

Mr. Justice Clark  
from  
Reed, J.  
Rec'd. 1/17/57  
pp. 8 & 10

## SUPREME COURT OF THE UNITED STATES

No. 15.—OCTOBER TERM, 1956.

Oleta O'Connor Yates, Petitioner,	} On Writ of Certiorari to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.
v.	
United States of America.	

[January —, 1957.]

MR. JUSTICE REED delivered the opinion of the Court.

This case concerns sentences of contempt imposed upon petitioner for refusal to answer questions at her trial<sup>1</sup> about the connections of various individuals with the Communist Party.

~~[Petitioner has been sentenced to concurrent 1-year prison terms on each of 11 specifications of criminal contempt of court]~~<sup>1</sup> The circumstances under which her conviction took place are these. Petitioner, who was admittedly a high executive officer of the Communist Party of California, was indicted with 13 others for conspiracy to violate the Smith Act. After the Government had presented its case in chief, all but four of the defendants—petitioner and three others—rested their cases. Petitioner took the stand and testified in her own defense. On cross-examination, she testified on June 26, 1952, that two of the three defendants who had not rested were leaders of the Communist Party. She refused, however, to disclose whether any of the defendants who had rested had been involved in Communist Party activities, on the ground that if she made such a disclosure, "I would only be contributing . . . to the prosecution case against them, and I think that that would be becoming a government informer and I cannot do that."

In the afternoon of the same day, petitioner refused to say whether she had known one Glickson, who was not

<sup>1</sup> YATES, ET AL. V. UNITED STATES, 354 U.S. 298 (1957)

a defendant, to be a Party member, on the ground that "... that is a question which, if I were to answer, could only lead to a situation in which a person could be caused to suffer the loss of his job, ... and perhaps be subjected to further harassment, and ... I cannot bring myself to contribute to that." She ~~stated~~ that "However many times I am asked and in however many forms, to identify a person as a communist, I can't bring myself to do it ... ." She also refused to say whether a co-defendant who had rested his case had been elected a delegate to the National Convention of the Communist Party in 1950, although she answered similar questions about defendants who had not rested their cases. She was then adjudged guilty of civil contempt for her refusal to answer these questions, and committed to jail until she should purge herself by answering the questions or until further order of the court. She remained in jail until the conclusion of the trial.<sup>2</sup> This judgment for civil contempt committed on June 26 is not here for decision.<sup>3</sup>

HER POSITION ON  
SUCH QUESTIONS CLEARLY,  
namely,

Four days later, on June 30, petitioner refused to answer 11 questions put to her on cross-examination, despite instructions to do so from the court. In each of

<sup>1</sup> The trial ended on Aug. 5, 1952. Petitioner was confined under the judgment of conviction in the principal case until Aug. 30, 1952, when she was released on bail pending appeal in that case. She was again confined on Sept. 3, 1952, under the civil contempt order of June 26. She was released on bail on Sept. 6, 1952, pending appeal from the order directing her reconfinement. That order was reversed on appeal. *Yates v. United States*, 227 F. 2d 844. Petitioner was once more confined on Sept. 8, 1952, pursuant to a criminal contempt judgment based on her refusals to answer questions on June 26. She was released on bail on Sept. 11, 1952, pending appeal from that judgment, which was later reversed on appeal. *Yates v. United States*, 227 F. 2d 848. Neither that contempt nor its reversal is ~~under review in the present case.~~

<sup>2</sup> The judgment was affirmed on appeal. *Yates v. United States*, 227 F. 2d 844.

THE CRIMINAL CONTEMPT  
CERTIFICATE INVOLVED HERE  
WAS SIGNED ON JULY 8, 1952,  
DURING THE TRIAL. SENTENCE  
WAS DEFERRED UNTIL THE  
TRIAL WAS CONCLUDED. ON  
AUGUST 8TH SHE WAS  
FOUND GUILTY ~~OF CRIMINAL~~  
~~CONTEMPT~~ ON THE  
CHARGE AND SENTENCE WAS  
THEN IMPOSED. SHE HAS  
NEVER BEEN CONFINED ON  
THIS SENTENCE, HOWEVER,  
SUBSEQUENT TO THE VERDICT  
SHE

INVOLVED HERE. THE  
ORDER OF ~~CONTEMPT~~  
~~HAVING~~ REVERSAL,  
~~HAVING BEEN~~  
~~FINAL~~ NOW FINAL,  
WAS BASED ON LACK  
OF NOTICE, PRECLUDING  
~~ANY FURTHER HEARING~~  
REMAND FOR ADDITIONAL  
PROCEEDINGS THEREON.

these questions she was asked to identify as a member of the Communist Party either a co-defendant who had rested his case or someone not a defendant. She refused to identify as Communists people who could "be hurt by" such testimony or members of whose families could so be hurt. She was willing, however, to identify people "whom I know I cannot hurt" and whose families could not be hurt, and in fact she did identify, in response to a prosecution question, at least one deceased person. The court at that time stated that he expected to treat this contempt as criminal contempt under Rule 42 (a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.<sup>3</sup> This eliminates ~~a~~ <sup>THE</sup> problem of notice <sup>HERE</sup> treated in another appeal of Mrs. Yates.<sup>4</sup> The action <sup>HERE</sup> was pursuant to 18 U. S. C. § 401.<sup>5</sup> At the request of counsel, adjudication was deferred <sup>UNTIL AFTER THE VERDICT.</sup>

REITERATED HER POSITION  
TAKEN ON JUNE 26, ~~AND~~  
WITH A REFINEMENT THAT  
SHE WOULD REFUSE ~~TO~~

INVOLVING A SECOND  
CRIMINAL CONTEMPT  
JUDGMENT ENTERED  
ON SEPT. 8, 1957, A MONTH  
SUBSEQUENT TO THE  
ONE HERE INVOLVED.<sup>4</sup>

After the jury had returned a verdict of guilty in the conspiracy case against all defendants, and after sentence had been imposed, the court adjudged petitioner guilty of criminal contempt for each of her 11 refusals to answer questions on June 30. No question is raised as to the form or content of the specifications.

Before imposing sentence, the court stated that if petitioner should answer the 11 questions then or within

<sup>3</sup> "A criminal contempt may be punished summarily if the judge certifies that he saw or heard the conduct constituting the contempt and that it was committed in the actual presence of the court. The order of contempt shall recite the facts and shall be signed by the judge and entered of record."

<sup>4</sup> Compare *Yates v. United States*, 227 F. 2d 848, 850.

<sup>5</sup> "A court of the United States shall have power to punish by fine or imprisonment, at its discretion, such contempt of its authority, and none other, as—

"(1) Misbehavior of any person in its presence or so near thereto as to obstruct the administration of justice;

"(2) Misbehavior of any of its officers in their official transactions;

"(3) Disobedience or resistance to its lawful writ, process, order, rule, decree, or command."



60 days, while he had authority to modify the sentence under Fed. Rules Crim. Proc., 35, he would be inclined to accept her submission to the authority of the court. The petitioner persisted in her refusal to answer the questions. [The court thereupon sentenced petitioner to imprisonment for one year on each of the 11 separate specifications of criminal contempt. The sentences were to run concurrently and were to commence upon her release from custody following execution of the five-year sentence imposed on the conspiracy charge. The judgment was affirmed by the Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. 227 F. 2d 851. We granted certiorari. 350 U.S. 947.]

and the sentences  
were imposed.

The Judiciary Act of 1789 contained a section making it explicit that federal courts could "punish by fine or imprisonment, at the discretion of said courts, all contempts of authority in any cause or hearing before the same . . . ." 1 Stat. 73, 83. After United States District Judge Peck's acquittal in 1831<sup>6</sup> on charges of high misdemeanors for summarily punishing a member of his bar for contempt in publishing a critical comment on one of his judgments, Congress modified the statute. It restricted the summary power to misbehavior in specific situations that obstructed the administration of justice, such as disobedience to lawful orders. 4 Stat. 487; see Power to Regulate Contempts, Frankfurter and Landis, 37 Harv. L. Rev. 1010, 1023-1038. The present code provision is substantially similar.<sup>7</sup> This power of summary punishment for the obstructive contumacy of a witness is not questioned.<sup>8</sup> It is necessary to protect the orderly processes of reason in trials.

<sup>6</sup> Stansbury, Report of the Trial of James H. Peck (1833).

<sup>7</sup> See n. 4, *supra*.

<sup>8</sup> *In re Michael*, 326 U. S. 224, 228; *Ex parte Hudgins*, 249 U. S. 378, 388.

authorized under § 401 (3) as disobedience to a lawful  
"order, rule, decree or command" See Note 5, *supra*.

## YATES v. UNITED STATES.

5

Petitioner raises three issues. She claims first that her refusals to answer constituted a single contempt of court, and that commitment for criminal contempt in addition to commitment for civil contempt for this single action is contrary to 18 U. S. C. § 401 and violates the Double Jeopardy and Due Process provisions of the Fifth Amendment. Second, she argues that her sentence ~~to a year in prison~~ is so severe that it constitutes an abuse of the trial court's discretion and violates the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment and the Cruel and Unusual Punishments Clause of the Eighth Amendment. Her final contention is that the sentence was imposed to coerce her into answering the questions instead of to punish her, and that it was consequently error and a violation of due process for the trial court to commit her for a definite term.

FINALLY SHE CONTENDS THAT THE ELEVEN SPECIFICATIONS COVER ONLY ONE ACT OF CONTUMACY BECAUSE OF THE NATURE AND SIMILARITY OF THE QUESTIONS AND THAT THE SENTENCES, THOUGH CONCURRENT, ARE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES HERE

TO SENTENCE AND CRIMINAL CONTEMPT IN ADDITION TO THE CIVIL CONTEMPT SENTENCE ALREADY IMPOSED. UNITED STATES V UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA 330 US 228 (1947)

I. Petitioner argues that her refusals to answer questions on June 26 and June 30 constituted only one contempt of court, and that she could not lawfully be punished more than once for this single contempt. ~~The trial court convicted petitioner of "eleven separate criminal contempts."~~ All were refusals to testify as to the Communist connections of various persons. Each question sought somewhat <sup>THE SAME</sup> ~~different~~ information. <sup>BUT</sup> Nine different individuals were involved. The petitioner had been queried about one of these four days ~~before~~. At that earlier hearing, as explained above, petitioner had told the court she would not identify as a Communist any person who could be "hurt." She did identify some persons as Communists when she considered such evidence harmless. ~~The~~ prosecutor's further queries may have been justified to test petitioner's position as to the meaning of "hurt," <sup>we believe, however,</sup> We shall assume, however, that on the former day she had given the court and the prosecution notice that her purpose was to refuse to identify those named in the

IF MRS YATES ALSO OBJECTS TO HER CONVICTION OF "ELEVEN SEPARATE CRIMINAL CONTEMPTS." THE QUESTIONS ON WHICH THESE SPECIFICATIONS ARE BASED WERE ~~ONCE~~ <sup>ONCE</sup> HER

BEFORE AND IT ~~WAS~~ FORMED A PART OF THE BASIS FOR THE CIVIL CONTEMPT ORDER OF JUNE 26<sup>TH</sup>.

IN VIEW OF THE CLEAR POSITION TAKEN BY MRS YATES ON SEPTEMBER JUNE 26 AND THE NATURE OF THE QUESTIONS PRO-  
POUNDED ON EACH OF THESE DAYS WE ARE INCLINED TO AGREE THAT HER ACTION CON-  
STITUTED ONE CONTEMPT. BUT HER REFUSAL OF THE 30<sup>TH</sup> WAS A CONTINUATION OF HER CONTUMACEOUS CONDUCT OF THE 26<sup>TH</sup>, <sup>WHICH</sup> ~~THE~~ <sup>WAS</sup> ~~SUBJECTED~~ <sup>HOLD</sup> HER ~~TO A SENTENCE IN CIVIL CONTEMPT BUT CRIMINAL AS WELL.~~ EACH HAS A SPECIFIC PURPOSE, CIVIL CONTEMPT BE-  
ING USED TO COMPEL OBEDIENCE TO LAWFUL ORDERS WHILE CRIM-  
INAL CONTEMPT IS TO VINDICATE THE PUBLIC INTEREST. REA-  
FIELD CO V SEC, 330 US 585. THE TRIAL JUDGE SO WARNED MRS YATES AT THE TIME.

7 HER DOUBLE JEOPARDY CLAIM ALSO ~~RELIES~~ <sup>INCLUDES</sup> THE CONTENTION THAT THE CRIMINAL CONTEMPT JUDGMENT OF SEPTEMBER 8<sup>TH</sup> 1957, ~~WAS~~ <sup>WAS</sup> ~~LATER REVERSED,~~ <sup>LATER REVERSED,</sup> ~~THE~~ <sup>THE</sup> ~~RENDERS THIS PREVIOUS CRIMINAL CONTEMPT JUDGMENT INVALID.~~ <sup>RENDERS THIS PREVIOUS CRIMINAL CONTEMPT JUDGMENT INVALID.</sup> THIS CONTENTION ~~HAS NO MERIT AND~~ <sup>HAS NO MERIT AND</sup> ~~WAS NOT~~ <sup>WAS NOT</sup> ~~MERITS NO DISCUSSION.~~ <sup>MERITS NO DISCUSSION.</sup>

While the

UNITED STATES V UNITED MINE WORKERS OF AMERICA, SUPRA, AT 303-304.



specifications as Communists so as to protect them from what she characterized as "harassment in a period of this character, where there is so much witch-hunting, so much hysteria, so much anti-communism."

The prosecution, we think, cannot successfully multiply contempts by asking a recalcitrant witness variations of a question to which an answer was once refused. See *United States v. Orman*, 207 F. 2d 148, 160. We assume that these questions were of that kind although it rather appears they were pertinent and useful to show petitioner's contacts and associations with various Communists to support the charge, then under trial, in this very proceeding, of her being a party to a conspiracy to teach and advocate the overthrow of the Government.<sup>8</sup>

Petitioner's argument of fatal error fails, however, because to support this conviction it is only necessary to have one valid concurrent sentence. *Sinclair v. United States*, 279 U. S. 263, 299; *Pinkerton v. United States*, 328 U. S. 640. Each sentence was for a year. Each contempt was treated separately. Petitioner had not been punished for criminal contempt for any refusal to answer on the earlier day, June 26. One sentence, at any rate, of the 11 is not a multiple contempt. Petitioner makes no claim that the trial court's judgment as to the proper penalty to be imposed was affected by his view that she had committed 11 separate contempts on that day, nor can we assume that such was the case in light of his imposition of a one-year sentence on each of the 11 specifications of contempt. Neither the record nor the contentions here as to these specifications indicate any irascibility on the part of the judge or provocation by continued refusal of petitioner or her counsel, Cf. *Offutt*

<sup>8</sup>In this aspect of the questions, this case differs from *United States v. Costello*, 198 F. 2d 200, 204, relied upon by petitioner. In that case the alleged contempt arose from a stated refusal to answer any question on the ground of illness. However,

8. In general pattern this case follows *United States v. Costello*, 198 F. 2d 200, 203-4, in that multiple contempts were reversed but refusal to testify to any questions was sustained. Here there was a refusal as to a class of questions carved out by the witness.

BELIEVE

THIS CONVICTION OF CRIMINAL CONTEMPT IT IS ONLY NECESSARY TO HAVE A SINGLE ACT OF CONTUMACY. MRS YATES CONTINUED REFUSAL CONSTITUTED THIS AT THE LEAST, SHE

HOWEVER, IT MAY BE

~~Continued Criminal~~

ON THE TOTAL OF THE ELEVEN REFUSALS TO ANSWER

WHILE

EVEN BEFORE THIS COURT ~~AND~~  
REVERSED THE MAIN CASE THE  
COURT OF APPEALS HAD FOUND  
THAT THIS SENTENCE WAS SE-  
VERE." THAT REVERSAL POINTS  
UP ITS SEVERITY THE MORE, WHICH  
LEADS US TO VACATE THE SENTENCE  
AND REMAND THE CASE TO  
THE DISTRICT COURT FOR  
RE-SENTENCE IN THE LIGHT  
OF THESE CIRCUMSTANCES.

STILL  
~~HOWEVER, THE~~ AND Mrs YATES HAS NOW SERVED A TOTAL OF ~~SIXTEEN~~ OVER 70 DAYS  
IN JAIL, HER CONVICTION NOT ONLY ON THE MERITS OF HER MAIN CASE BUT ON  
~~THE~~ ANOTHER CRIMINAL CONTEMPT HAVE BEEN REVERSED. ~~THE~~  
FURTHERMORE, THE SENTENCE HERE IMPOSED IS ~~SEVERED BY ITS~~ ALSO CROBBED BY  
ITS EFFECTIVE DATE BEING SET AFTER HER SENTENCE FOR FIVE YEARS IN THE MAIN  
CASE, WHICH HAS BEEN REVERSED. IN ADDITION, AS THE COURT OF APPEALS FOUND "THE  
SENTENCE WAS SEVERE" ~~THE FACT~~ THIS WAS BEING THE REVERSAL OF THE MAIN CASE HERE.

15

## YATES v. UNITED STATES.

7

v. *United States*, 348 U. S. 11. This case follows the gen-  
eral pattern of *Costello, supra*, at pp. 203, 204, where the  
multiple contempts were reversed but a contemporaneous  
contempt conviction for refusal to testify at all on these  
same day was sustained. In the circumstances of this  
case it is not material to the validity of the sentence for  
one year whether there was a single contempt in the whole  
testimony of petitioner or multiple contempts.

We find no merit in petitioner's contention that her  
sentence is contrary to 18 U. S. C. § 401. The argument  
is that since she had undergone imprisonment during the  
trial to coerce her to answer the questions, she was pun-  
ished by that imprisonment so that another imprison-  
ment violates the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth  
Amendment.

Her imprisonment on June 26, 1952, for refusal to  
answer the questions of that date should have terminated  
at the conclusion of the conspiracy trial. *Yates v. United*  
*States*, 227 F. 2d 844, 846-848. The language of the  
committing order imprisoned her until she purged herself  
or "until further order of the Court." This did not impose  
punishment for past disobedience.<sup>10</sup> Her imprisonment  
was civil in character, coercive.<sup>11</sup> After civil coercion, a  
criminal punishment does not violate the Double Jeopardy  
Clause.<sup>12</sup> And to require the simultaneous application of  
these two sanctions would, in a situation such as this,  
deprive the trial court of a useful flexibility in dealing  
with contempt of court.

II. Petitioner's second contention is that the one-year  
prison term to which she has been sentenced is so dispro-

<sup>10</sup> *Maggio v. Zeitz*, 333 U. S. 56, 68.

<sup>11</sup> *Penfield Co. v. S. E. C.*, 330 U. S. 585; *United States v. United*  
*Mine Workers*, 330 U. S. 258, 298; *McComb v. Jacksonville Paper*  
*Co.*, 336 U. S. 187.

<sup>12</sup> *Helvering v. Mitchell*, 303 U. S. 391, 397; *Rex Traylor Co. v.*  
*United States*, 350 U. S. 148, 160.

While this is not to say  
that reversal in the main  
case ~~for~~ acts as a  
purge of continuations  
conduct in refusal to  
answer questions still we  
believe it has bearing on the  
sentence imposed. Fur-  
thermore, even before this  
Court reversed the main  
case the Court of Appeals  
had characterized the sen-  
tences as "severe". All  
of this <sup>10</sup> leads us to vacate  
the sentences and remand  
the case to the District Court  
for re-sentence in the  
light of those circumstances.

FA 10. In addition the  
sentences imposed were ordered  
to be served after completion of  
the first year sentence in the  
main case. That case having  
been reversed there is no sentence  
outstanding which ~~renders~~  
~~renders~~ uncertain the  
date of service of ~~the~~  
~~imposed term~~. These sen-  
tences.



## 8 YATES v. UNITED STATES.

portionate in its severity to the seriousness of her offense that its imposition constituted an abuse of the trial court's discretion and violated the constitutional prohibitions against the infliction of cruel and unusual punishments and the deprivation of liberty without due process of law. U. S. Const., Amends. VIII and V. Whatever the extent of our power to correct the sentence for criminal contempt imposed by a federal judge,<sup>13</sup> we are not convinced that the trial court here abused its discretion. Petitioner was on trial for conspiracy to commit a serious crime, for which she could be and was sentenced to five years in prison.<sup>14</sup> She refused to answer material questions put to her on cross-examination in the face of directions from the court to answer the questions. Her course of conduct was one of deliberate defiance of the authority of the court, showing plainly the characteristic that calls for the exercise of a court's contempt power—obstruction of the effectiveness of a trial in discovering truth. *Ex parte Hudgins*, 249 U. S. 378, 383. The record thus shows adequately the reason for a year's sentence rather than a shorter period. Compare *Stack v. Boyle*, 342 U. S. 1, 6. Her offense cannot be characterized as trivial. The witness' failure to testify results in the obstruction of the processes of law so indispensable to a free society, even if it has its source in a witness' private notion, conscientiously held, of his duty. A witness cannot determine for himself what his duties as a witness are. While the sentence is heavier

<sup>13</sup> Cf. *Sacher v. Association of the Bar*, 347 U. S. 388; *United States v. United Mine Workers of America*, 330 U. S. 258.

<sup>14</sup> Fourteen defendants, consisting largely of important members and officials of the California Communist Party, were on trial, alleged to have conspired with 12 other named but unindicted co-conspirators and "other persons to the grand jury unknown." The trial consumed 6 months and produced a record totaling 26 volumes and nearly 15,000 pages. The principal case is one of significance in the administration of the Smith Act, 18 U. S. C. § 2385.



than that usually imposed for the contemptuous conduct of a witness in refusing to answer, it is by no means unprecedented.<sup>15</sup>

Petitioner places some reliance on the fact that Congress has set a statutory maximum of six months on imprisonment for contempts so far away from the presence of the court so as not to obstruct the administration of justice. 18 U. S. C. § 402. But Congress has placed no limit on punishment for contempts committed, like petitioner's, in the presence of the court, 18 U. S. C. § 401, and it has specifically exempted such contempts from the operation of § 402. And Congress has authorized imprisonment for one year for a witness's refusal to answer a question before a congressional committee. 2 U. S. C. § 192. While petitioner's sentence is severe, we cannot say that the trial court abused its judicial discretion in imposing it. And the sentence is plainly not so unrelated to the seriousness of petitioner's crime as to contravene the prohibitions of the Fifth and Eighth Amendments.<sup>16</sup>

III. Finally, petitioner argues that the challenged sentences were imposed not to punish her but instead to coerce her into answering the 11 questions. From this premise she draws the conclusion that the criminal sentence is invalid because imprisonment cannot be used to coerce evidence after the end of the conspiracy trial.

<sup>15</sup> See *Lopiparo v. United States*, 216 F. 2d 87 (18 months or until discharge of grand jury for refusal to produce records before grand jury); *Carlson v. United States*, 209 F. 2d 209 (reversing on another point a sentence of 18 months for evasion of questions before a grand jury), and connected cases; *Healey v. United States*, 186 F. 2d 164 (reversing on another point a sentence of one year for refusal to answer questions before grand jury).

<sup>16</sup> See *Baddus v. United States*, 240 U. S. 391; *Collins v. Johnston*, 237 U. S. 502, 510; *Weems v. United States*, 217 U. S. 349; cf. *Palko v. Connecticut*, 302 U. S. 319, 325.

## 10 YATES v. UNITED STATES.

*Gompers v. Bucks Stove & Range Co.*, 221 U. S. 418, 443, 449. The record is clear to us that Mrs. Yates was imprisoned to punish her for her interference with the progress of the trial and her defiance of the authority of the court by refusing to answer pertinent questions as to the conspiracy and her connection with it, after taking the stand as a witness.<sup>17</sup> In the statement of facts, p. —, *supra*, we have spoken of the effort of the court to encourage Mrs. Yates to submit to the authority of the court to require obedience to its lawful orders. Granting petitioner this opportunity to recognize, though belatedly, the authority of the court did not transform the judgment into one for civil contempt. The judgment is

*Affirmed.*

MR. JUSTICE BRENNAN took no part in the consideration or decision of this case.

---

<sup>17</sup> Cf. *Lopiparo v. United States*, 222 F. 2d 897.